REVI SED - Septenber 5, 2000

UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 97-31143

ST. PAUL MERCURY | NSURANCE CO.,

Pl ai ntiff-Counter Defendants-Appell ee,

VERSUS

ROBERT T. W LLI AMSON; SONYA W LLI AMSON; ARLONE BELAI RE
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No. 98-31243

ST. PAUL MERCURY | NSURANCE CO.; HAYNES BEST WESTERN OF

ALEXANDRI A, | NC.; BEST WESTERN | NTERNATI ONAL, INC.; H L.

HAYNES, H L. HAYNES, Ms.; H & L HOLDI NG CO.; AMERI CAN
GENERAL | NSURANCE CO.; RICHARD S. VALE; MARYLAND CASUALTY CO.,

Pl ai ntiffs-Appellees,
VERSUS

SONYA W LLI AMSON, | ndividually and on behal f of her m nor
children, ROBERT T. WLLIAVBON, |ndividually and on behal f
of his mnor children; LAWRENCE J. SM TH,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Louisiana

August 17, 2000
Bef ore JONES, DeMOSS and DENNI'S, Circuit Judges.
DeMOSS, Circuit Judge:

In these three consolidated appeals, we confront a convol uted
set of facts and issues arising fromthe unfortunate |itigi ousness
of the parties involved. Despite hopes that the cycle of

litigation would end here today, we nmust concl ude that the district

court erred in various aspects of its rulings and that resol ution



of these cases nust await another tine.

| . BACKGROUND

In March of 1990, Sonya WIIlianson (“Sonya”) individually and
Robert WIlIlianmson (“Robert”), on behalf of their children, filed
suit in state court against various individuals and entities
including St. Paul Mercury Insurance Conpany (“St. Paul”)
(collectively the “insurance parties”) for injuries suffered by
Sonya at the Haynes Best Western of Al exandria. On Septenber 26,
1994, the jury in this state case returned two findings: (1) Sonya
had sustained injuries at the notel on July 21, 1989; and (2) the
i nsurance parties had proved by a preponderance of the evidence
that the incident of July 21, 1989, was a result of a staged
accident or fraud. Judgnent was entered in favor of the insurance
parties. On January 29, 1997, the Louisiana Fourth Crcuit Court
of Appeal affirned the jury’'s verdict. See WIIlianson v. Haynes
Best Western, 688 So. 2d 1201 (La. C. App. 1997). The Louisiana
Suprene Court denied the WIIliansons’ applications for wits on
June 20, 1997. See WIIlianson v. Haynes Best Wstern, 695 So. 2d
1355 (La. 1997).

On Novenber 4, 1993, during the pendency of the state trial,
St. Paul filed suit in federal court against Robert, Arlone

Bel aire,! and Seahorse Farns (collectively with Sonya and with or

IArl one Belaire is Robert WIlianson’s not her.
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W t hout Seahorse Farns as the “WIIlianmsons”), alleging violations
of the Racketeer |Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO),
18 U S.C. 88 1961-68, and state law clains for fraud and
conspiracy. St. Paul |ater anended the conpl aint on Decenber 12,
1994, to include Sonya as a defendant. The conplaint essentially
alleged that the WIIlianmsons have a lengthy history of making
fraudul ent i nsurance clains and that they staged the el ectrocution
t hat supposedly injured Sonya at the notel.

On Septenber 25, 1996, the WIIlianmsons counterclained and
simul taneously initiated an action in the sane federal district
court, which was ultimtely consolidated with St. Paul’s suit.
They asserted various RICO and state |aw clains against the
i nsurance parties. In general, their counterclains alleged that
the fraud defense asserted by the insurance parties in Sonya s
state court personal injury trial, and which ultimately forned the
basis for recovery in St. Paul’s federal suit, was itself
fraudul ent .

On Cctober 22, 1997, the district court granted sunmary
judgnent in favor of St. Paul and the other counter-defendants on
the WIllianmsons’ counterclains. See St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v.
WIllianmson, 986 F. Supp. 409 (WD. La. 1997). It further dism ssed
St. Paul’s RICOcl ai ns agai nst the Wl Iliansons on Oct ober 30, 1997.

Subsequent to the district court’s dismssal of St. Paul’s

RICOclains, St. Paul orally dism ssed Robert, Arlone, and Seahorse



Farns fromthe lawsuit at the final pretrial conference, held on
Cct ober 31, 1997. Wth those dismssals, the only remaining
matters were St. Paul’s state law clainms for fraud and conspiracy
agai nst Sonya. At the pretrial conference, the district court
appeared to conclude that the state court jury finding of fraud was
res judicata as to St. Paul’s state law fraud claim? |t induced
Sonya’s counsel to admt that with the dism ssal of the other
Wllianmson |itigants, there existed the requirenents for res
j udi cata under Louisiana | aw.

Sonya’s counsel, however, contended that the fraud and
conspiracy clains had prescribed. He was given the opportunity to
file a notion for sunmary judgnent on that issue, which he did on
Novenber 5, 1997. St. Paul responded to that notion on Novenber 7,
1997, six days prior to trial. That response for the first tine
specifically nmentioned a malicious prosecution claim Sonya filed
a reply to the response on the sane day.

On Novenber 11, 1997, the district court denied Sonya’s notion
for sunmmary judgnent based on prescription. But instead of
addr essi ng whet her the fraud and conspiracy clains had prescri bed,
the district court’s order focused on whether St. Paul’s conpl ai nt
provided Sonya with notice of the operative facts underlying a
mal i ci ous prosecution claim While acknow edging that St. Paul did

not expressly allege the | egal theory of malicious prosecution, the

2But the district court reserved the right to make a final
witten ruling, which was never issued.

6



district court found that St. Paul’s conpl aint gave adequate notice
of that claimfor purposes of Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Cvil
Pr ocedur e.

Thereafter, on Novenber 13, 1997, the district court ruled
that the trial would proceed solely on the i ssue of damages. Sonya
obj ected and asked for a continuance, which was denied. The jury
returned a damages award against Sonya in the anount of
$411, 166. 56.

Wiile the federal suit was proceeding before the district
court, Sonya and her children, through their father Robert, filed
a petition in state court in Novenber 1995, to nullify the prior
state court judgnent finding that Sonya’s injuries were the result
of a staged accident or fraud pursuant to Louisiana Code of G vil
Procedure article 2004.% The petition alleged ill practices by the
i nsurance parties in concealing the defects on the notel’s prem ses
and in presenting false testinony from notel enployees regarding
the condition and alteration of the electrical fixtures. The
nul lification case sat dormant during the pendency of the federal
suit initiated by St. Paul. But in March of 1998, Sonya and the
children filed a third suppl enental and anendi ng petition in state

court, reviving the nullification suit.

SArticle 2004 states that “[a] final judgnent obtained by
fraud or ill practices nmay be annulled.”
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On Septenber 9, 1998, St. Paul and the other insurance parties
filed a conplaint in federal court to enjoin the nullification
action. They argued that Sonya and the children’s nullification
petition was an attenpt to relitigate the prior federal court
judgnent dismssing the WIIlianmsons’ counterclains. Anmong the
count ercl ai ns had been al |l egati ons concerning the condition of the
electrical fixtures and the insurance parties’ representations of
the notel’s prem ses. A hearing was held on the injunction on
Cctober 5, 1998. On COctober 16, 1998, the district court
prelimnarily enjoined Sonya, Robert, their children, and their
attorney Lawrence J. Smith, frompursuing the nullification action

in state court, pending the resolution of the appeal of the federal

case.
1. DI SCUSSI ON
In these consolidated appeals, the various parties raise an
assortnment of issues. In appeal No. 97-31143, the WIIlianmson

litigants challenge the district court’s apparent directed
verdi ct/summary judgnent order concluding that the state court jury
finding of fraud was res judicata as to the liability portion of
St. Paul’s malicious prosecution claim its decision to strike al

of Sonya’s defenses to that malicious prosecution claim the
sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury’ s damages verdi ct,

certain evidentiary rulings by the district court, and its summary



judgnent order dismssing their counterclains. |In appeal No. 98-
30001, St. Paul contests the district court’s sunmary judgnent
order dismssing its RICO clains against the WIllianmsons. And in
appeal No. 98-31243, Sonya, Robert, their children, and their
attorney Smth assert that the district court erred in enjoining
the nullification suit pending in Loui siana state court. W review
each of these appeals in turn.

A. Appeal No. 97-31143

In this appeal, one of Sonya’s major contentions is that the
district court inproperly determned that the state court jury’'s
finding of a staged accident or fraud was res judicata as to the
liability portion of St. Paul’s malicious prosecution claim She
of fers both a procedural and a substantive reason for reversing the
district court’s ruling. Procedurally, she notes that the district
court allowed St. Paul to proceed on the malicious prosecution
theory despite that clai mnot having been explicitly stated in St.
Paul * s conplaint. Moreover, it appeared to grant sumrary judgnent
sua sponte on the issue of liability wthout affording her a chance
to respond. Substantively, Sonya mnmaintains that the district
court’s grant of summary judgnent m sapplied Loui siana res judicata

| aw.



St. Paul never specifically nentioned a nmalicious prosecution
claim that is, its conplaint* did not include the magic words
“mal i ci ous prosecution.” Furthernore, St. Paul never noved to
anend its conplaint to include a nmalicious prosecution claim
I ndeed, the first tinme St. Paul expressly asserted this claimwas
inits response to Sonya’'s notion for summary judgnent.

The notice pleading requirenents of Federal Rule of Cvil

Procedure 8 and case |law do not require an inordinate anount of

detail or precision. Rule 8 provides that “[a] pleading
shall contain . . . a short and plain statenent of the claim
showing that the pleader is entitled to relief . . . .7 The

function of a conplaint is to give the defendant fair notice of the
plaintiff’s claimand the grounds upon which the plaintiff relies.
See Doss v. South Cent. Bell Tel. Co., 834 F.2d 421, 424 (5th Cr

1987) (citing Conley v. Gbson, 78 S. C. 99, 103 (1957)). The
“formof the conplaint is not significant if it alleges facts upon
which relief can be granted, even if it fails to categorize
correctly the legal theory giving rise to the claim” Dussouy v.
@l f Coast Inv. Corp., 660 F.2d 594, 604 (5th Gr. 1981); see also

Doss, 834 F.2d at 424.

4St. Paul actually filed nore than one conplaint in this case,
but none of them specifically nmentioned the malicious prosecution
claim For sinplicity’'s sake, we use the singular.
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Here, St. Paul’s conplaint focused on R CO violations
purportedly conmtted by Sonya and the other WIllianson litigants,
but i n describing those violations, it generally all eged that Sonya
defrauded St. Paul by pursuing a fraudulent |awsuit in state court
for which St. Paul sought danages to conpensate for the attorneys’
fees expended in that suit. Al t hough those allegations did not
specifically include the words “malicious prosecution,” such a
claimcould conceivably cone within those allegations, and those
all egations state facts upon which relief can be granted.

Sonya’s second procedural issue is of greater concern. St.
Paul did not nove for summary judgnent based on res judicata as to
the malicious prosecution claim Ilet alone on the fraud and
conspiracy clains, which were the original clains that appeared to
have been barred by res judicata at the October 31 pretrial
conference. Hence, the district court nust have sua sponte granted
summary judgnment on the liability portion of the nmalicious
prosecution claim

The district court may enter summary judgnent sua sponte if
the parties are provided with reasonabl e notice and an opportunity
to present argunent opposing the judgnent. See Ross v. University
of Texas, 139 F. 3d 521, 527 (5th GCr. 1998). A party nust be given
at | east ten days notice before a court grants summary judgnent sua
spont e. See id. (quoting MIler v. Houghton, 115 F.3d 348, 350

(5th Gr. 1997)). But failure to give notice may be harmnl ess when
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the “‘nonnovant has no additional evidence or if all of the
nonnmovant’s additional evidence is reviewed by the appel |l ate court
and none of the evidence presents a genuine issue of material
fact.”” 1d. (quoting Nowin v. Resolution Trust Corp., 33 F.3d
498, 504 (5th Gr. 1994)).

The record is unclear as to whether the district court gave
notice to Sonya that it was considering an award of summary
judgnent on the malicious prosecution claim W can either view
the district court’s statenments at the October 31 pretrial
conference as having provided notice, with the subsequent Novenber
13 hearing reflecting the actual summary judgnent ruling, or we can
view the Novenber 13 hearing as having been the first tinme that
Sonya was notified about the possibility of summary judgnent. In
the forner case, there woul d have been sufficient notice, while in
the latter there would not have been. Part of the uncertainty
stens from the district court’s perception of the fraud and
mal i ci ous prosecution clains as being virtually synonynous when it
considered whether St. Paul’s conplaint alleged a malicious
prosecution claim Because the district court viewed the two
clainms simlarly, it naturally assuned that its oral res judicata
ruling as to the fraud claimat the October 31 pretrial conference
was controlling. But the fact that St. Paul’s conplaint nay have
averred a malicious prosecution claim in addition to the fraud

claim does not nmake the two clains the sane. Hence, we concl ude

12



t hat the Novenber 13 hearing was the first notice to Sonya that the
district court was considering summary judgnment as tothe liability
portion of the malicious prosecution claim

Notwi t hstanding this, summary judgnent may still have been
proper if the district court’s procedural error was harmnl ess. W,
however, believe that that was not the case. Under Loui siana | aw,
a malicious prosecution claimrequires: 1) the commencenent of an
original crimnal or civil judicial proceeding; 2) its |egal
causation by the present defendant against the present plaintiff
who was the defendant in the original proceeding; 3) its bona fide
termnation in favor of the present plaintiff; 4) the absence of
probabl e cause for such proceeding; 5) the presence of malice
therein; and 6) damages conformng to | egal standards resulting to
the plaintiff. See Hibernia Nat’'l Bank v. Bolleter, 390 So. 2d
842, 843 (La. 1980). Sonya’'s state court suit and the resulting
jury verdict essentially established the first three elenents. To
determne if there was an absence of probable cause, we nust
exam ne whet her Sonya had an honest and reasonable belief in the
liability of St. Paul at the tinme that she filed her lawsuit. See
Jones v. Soil eau, 448 So. 2d 1268, 1272 (La. 1984). The nere fact
that the state court jury found that the accident was staged or
fraudulent did not conclusively establish that Sonya | acked
probabl e cause to bring suit. Cf. id. (holding that a conviction

or its reversal is not conclusive as to whether a defendant who
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pressed crimnal charges against the plaintiff had probabl e cause
to bring forth the crimnal conplaint). Here, Sonya requested a
continuance so that she could present the testinony of the
attorneys who worked on her state court suit as to whether she had
probabl e cause to pursue the |awsuit. Thus, Sonya had evi dence
that she w shed to proffer to the court and that coul d have created
a genuine issue of material fact as to the probabl e cause el enent.
Therefore, we conclude that the district court should not have
granted summary judgnent sua sponte, and that irrespective of
whet her the district court conplied with the notice requirenents
for summary judgnent or conmtted harm ess error, summary judgnent
based on res judi cata was substantively inproper.

The rules of res judicata enconpass tw separate but |inked
precl usi ve doctrines: (1) true res judicata or clai mpreclusion and
(2) collateral estoppel or issue preclusion. See Kaspar Wre
Wrks, Inc. v. Leco Eng'g & Mach., Inc., 575 F.2d 530, 535 (5th
Cr. 1978). The fornmer is typically what we call “res judicata,”
and it treats a judgnent, once rendered, as the full neasure of
relief to be accorded between the sane parties on the sane “cl ai nf
or “cause of action.” See id. Res judicata incorporates the
doctrines of nerger and bar, thereby extending the effect of a
judgnent to the litigation of all issues relevant to the sane claim
bet ween the sane parties, whether or not those issues were raised

at trial. Collateral estoppel precludes the relitigation of issues
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actually adjudicated, and essential to the judgnent, in a prior
suit between the parties on a different cause of action. See id.

The Suprene Court has stated that “[t] he preclusive effect of
a state court judgnent in a subsequent federal |awsuit generally is
determ ned by the full faith and credit statute, which provides

that state judicial proceedings ‘shall have the sanme full faith and

credit in every court withinthe United State . . . as they have by
| aw or usage in the courts of such State . . . fromwhich they are
taken.”” Marrese v. Anerican Acadeny of Othopaedi c Surgeons, 105

S. Ct. 1327, 1331-32 (1985) (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 1738). Under this
statute, a federal court nust refer to the preclusion |aw of the
state in which judgnent was rendered. See id. at 1332.

Here, the district court had to give the sane preclusive
effect to the Louisiana state court judgnent as would a Loui siana
court. But, because of its civilian heritage, Louisiana s
preclusion law is quite different from that of its comon |aw
cousi ns. For exanple, Louisiana explicitly rejected collateral
estoppel as a preclusive device until certain statutory revisions
cane into effect on January 1, 1991. See B.E. Wlch v. Crown
Zel |l erbach Corp., 359 So. 2d 154, 156-57 (La. 1978); La. Rev. Stat.
13:4231. Consequently, the preclusive effect of judgnents ari sing
fromsuits filed before that date, such as the present matter, is
determned by the lawin effect prior to 1991. See La. Rev. Stat.

13: 4231.
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Wi | e Loui siana did not have coll ateral estoppel until 1991,
it did codify a lawof res judicata at forner Louisiana Cvil Code
article 2286.°5 That provision provided:

The authority of the thing adjudged takes place
only with respect to what was the object of the
judgnent. The thing demanded nust be the sane; the
demand nust be founded on the same cause of action;
the demand nust be between the sane parties; and
formed by them against each other in the sane
quality.
La. Gv. Code art. 2286. Thus, for res judicata to have applied in
the instant matter, there nust have been: 1) an identity of the
parties; 2) an identity of the thing demanded; and 3) an identity
of the cause of action. See Terrebonne v. Theriot, 657 So. 2d
1358, 1361 (La. C. App. 1995).

When determning if res judicata applies, Louisiana courts
have narrowW y construed the doctrine’s scope. See B. E. Wl ch, 359
So. 2d at 156. Any doubt as to conpliance with the requirenents of
res judicata is to be resolved in favor of maintaining the second
action. See Geer v. Louisiana, 616 So. 2d 811, 815 (La. Ct. App.
1993). And the party urging res judicata has the burden of proving
each essential el enent by a preponderance of the evidence. See id.

Under Louisiana law, identity of the parties does not nean

that the parties nmust be the sane physical or material parties, but

they nust appear in the suit in the sane quality or capacity. See

SArticle 2286 was redesignated as La. Rev. Stat. 13:4231
W t hout change in substance by 1984 La. Acts 331, §8 7, effective
January 1, 1985.
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id. Here, that requirenment was satisfied as Sonya and St. Paul
opposed each other in both the state and federal suits in the sane
quality or capacity. On the other hand, we encounter difficulties
in establishing the second and third requirenents.

The thing demanded has routinely been defined as the kind of
relief sought. See Cantrelle Fence & Supply Co. v. Allstate Ins.
Co., 515 So. 2d 1074, 1078 (La. 1987). In reality, that
requi renent is nore conplicated as it enconpasses the fundanental
nature of the right clainmed. “[T]he thing demanded in any action
is the recognition of the parties’ rights vis-a-vis the thing in
controversy.” David L. Hoskins, Comment, Litigation Preclusion in
Loui siana: Welch v. Crown Zell erbach Corporation and the Death of
Col | ateral Estoppel, 53 Tul. L. Rev. 875, 880 n.41 (1979); see al so
Dennis K. Dol bear, Note, The End of Collateral Estoppel in
Loui siana: Welch v. Crown Zellerbach Corporation, 40 La. L. Rev.
246, 249 (1979) (“[I1]t is the type of relief demanded, but viewed
interns of the basis for the right of indemification.”). In the
state court suit, St. Paul sought a defense verdict so that it
woul d not have to pay any damages to Sonya for her injuries. The
thing in controversy was whether Sonya had suffered any injuries
from the electrical accident and whether that accident had been
fraudul ent or staged. |In the federal case, what St. Paul wanted
was danages for the attorneys’ fees expended in fighting a

mal i ciously prosecuted state suit. Al t hough the issue of fraud
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pl ayed an inportant role in the federal suit, the relief sought in
that suit vis-a-vis the malicious prosecution claimwas pal pably
different fromthe relief requested in the state suit.

As for the third requirenent of identity of cause of action,
Loui si ana courts have concl uded that the phrase is a m stransl ation
of the French and that it really refers to the civil concept of
cause. See Geer, 616 So. 2d at 815. Cause is the juridical or
material fact which is the basis for the right clainmed or the
def ense pl eaded. See Mtchell v. Bertolla, 340 So. 2d 287, 291
(La. 1976). It may be likened to grounds, theory of recovery, or
the principle upon which a specific demand is grounded, and it is
a narrower concept than the common |aw s cause of action. See
Cantrell e Fence, 515 So. 2d at 1078; Geer, 616 So. 2d at 815.

We can distinguish between cause and cause of action by
gaugi ng their effects under res judicata. After final judgnent, a
cause of action includes all grounds in support of it, and together
they nerge into the judgnent so that relitigation of the cause of
action on different grounds is barred. See Cantrelle Fence, 515
So. 2d at 1078. But because cause is roughly anal ogous to theory
of recovery, a second suit on a different ground is not precluded.
As aresult, with m nor exceptions, Louisiana s |aw of res judicata
does not recogni ze the common | aw “m ght have been pl eaded” rule.

See id.; Thomas E. Loehn, Comment, Res Judicata: Cause vs. Common

Law, 22 Loy. L. Rev. 221, 230 (1976) (“The Louisiana courts have
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judicially declared in effect that res judicata wll only apply to
those matters actually litigated and concluded and not to those
that m ght have been urged.”).

In the state suit, St. Paul defended agai nst Sonya, contending
t hat the accident was fraudul ent. The cause concerned the defense,
based on fraud, of a negligence suit initiated by Sonya. That suit
ultimately resulted in a jury finding that the accident was either
staged or a fraud. In the |ater federal suit, St. Paul asserted a
mal i ci ous prosecution claim a theory of recovery that is wholly
different than a fraud defense. There, the cause invol ved whet her
Sonya mal i ci ously prosecuted her negligence suit against St. Paul.
As previously noted, a nmalicious prosecution claimrequires: (1)
the comencenent of an original crimnal or «civil judicial
proceeding; (2) its legal causation by the present defendant
agai nst the present plaintiff who was the defendant in the original
proceeding; (3) its bona fide termnation in favor of the present
plaintiff; (4) the absence of probable cause for such proceeding;
(5) the presence of malice therein; and (6) danages conformng to
| egal standards resulting to the plaintiff. See Hi bernia Nat’
Bank, 390 So. 2d at 843. On the other hand, “[f]raud is a
m srepresentation or a suppression of the truth made with the
intention either to obtain an unjust advantage for one party or to
cause a |l oss or inconvenience to the other.” WIIianmson, 688 So.

2d at 1239 (citing La. Gv. Code Ann. art. 1953). To prove fraud,
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one nmust show. 1) an intent to defraud, and 2) actual or potenti al
| oss or damages. See id. A conparison of those two theories of
recovery reveals that the specific elenments for a malicious
prosecution claimdo not coincide with those for fraud. Moreover,
a malicious prosecution claimcould not have proceeded at the sane
time that the state court trial on negligence and fraud was
occurring.

Despite those differences, the district court found that the
state court fraud finding established all the elenents of the
mal i ci ous prosecution claim?® The first three elenents were
satisfied when the first trial termnated in favor of St. Paul
The district court then held that the finding of fraud denonstrated
a |lack of probable cause, citing to Jones v. Soileau, 448 So.2d
1268 (La. 1984). Because there was a | ack of probable cause, the
district court ruled that the presence of nmalice was established.
See H bernia Nat’'|l Bank, 390 So. 2d at 844. Lastly, the district
court said danages are presuned when all the other elenents of a
mal i ci ous prosecution claimare satisfied. See id.

We believe that the ruling was in error. First, as previously

noted, a fraud claim and a nalicious prosecution claim are

6 The district court noted this in its Menorandum O der of
Novenber 11, 1997, denying Sonya's notion for sunmary judgnent
seeking dismssal of St. Paul’s state law clains. |n concluding

that St. Paul had stated a claimfor malicious prosecution inits
pl eadi ngs, that order discussed in sone detail howthe state court
fraud finding mrrored a malicious prosecution claim
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dissimlar in their elenents and do not involve the sane cause in
the present case. The argunent that a fraud finding establishes
all the elenents of a malicious prosecution claimand, therefore,
is res judicata on that claiminplies that the trial on the issue
of fraud enconpassed the malicious prosecution claim This defies
logic as a malicious prosecution claimcould not have been tried
until the first trial was over. Thus, there is an inherent
contradiction to the notion that a fraud finding establishes all
the el ements for nmalicious prosecution and is res judicata on that
claim Second, what the district court did by treating the state
court fraud finding as res judicata on the malicious prosecution
claim was to use that finding in a manner akin to offensive
col |l ateral estoppel, incorporating the prior adjudication into the
subsequent case to shorten the litigation. Res judicata, though,
is typically a defensive doctrine, and Louisiana did not have
col l ateral estoppel wuntil 1991. Finally, the district court
msread and msapplied the holding of Jones to support its
proposition that a fraud finding establishes | ack of probabl e cause
as a matter of law. That case does not state such a hol ding but
actually suggests that a fraud finding in a prior case is not
conclusive as to the lack of probable cause. Hence, a fraud
finding could not have conclusively established a nalicious

prosecution claim and the fornmer should not have been used as res
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judicata as to the latter claim?’ Accordingly, we vacate the
summary judgnent and danmages verdict in favor of St. Paul on its
mal i ci ous prosecution claim

In light of our reversal and vacatur, we decline to address
Sonya’s argunents as to the striking of her defenses or as to
whet her sufficient evidence supported the jury’ s damages verdict.
As for the remai ning i ssues on appeal in No. 97-31143, after having
reviewed the briefs and the record in this case, we find them
meritless. Thus, we believe that the district court did not
inproperly grant summary judgnent dismssing the WIIiansons’
counterclains or err in its evidentiary rulings, and those
determ nations are affirnmed.

B. Appeal No. 98-30001

The second of the three appeal s concerns the district court’s
summary judgnent order dismssing St. Paul’s RICO clains agai nst
the WIllianmsons. RICOcreates a civil cause of action for “‘[a]ny
person injured in his business or property by reason of a violation
of section 1962."”" Beck v. Prupis, 120 S. C. 1608, 1611 (2000)
(quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c)). Here, St. Paul asserted violations

of § 1962(a), (c), and (d). We have reduced those subsections to

"Furthernore, the state court jury found that the acci dent had
been staged or was fraudulent, not that Sonya had specifically
commtted fraud. Wthout an exam nation of the state court record,
we cannot say that such a general finding of fraud could properly
be res judicata as to clains all eging individually specific charges
of fraud or nalicious prosecution.
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their sinplest terns to nean that:

(a) a person who has received incone froma pattern of

racketeering activity cannot invest that incone in an

enterprise;

tcj é person who is enployed by or associated with an

enterprise cannot conduct the affairs of the enterprise

through a pattern of racketeering activity; and

(d) a person cannot conspire to viol ate subsections (a),

(b), or (c).
See Crowe v. Henry, 43 F.3d 198, 203 (5th Cr. 1995). Under all
t hose subsections, to state a RICO claim there nust be: “(1) a
person who engages in (2) a pattern of racketeering activity (3)
connected to the acquisition, establishnment, conduct, or control of
an enterprise.” Delta Truck & Tractor, Inc. v. J.lI. Case Co., 855
F.2d 241, 242 (5th Cr. 1988). Assum ng that the three el enents of
a RICO person, a pattern of racketeering activity, and a RICO
enterprise are net, we my then continue to the substantive
requi renents of each respective subsection

Before proceeding to the three R CO elenents and the
substantive requirenents of the subsections, we initially address
St. Paul’s argunent as to the appropriate standard of review
Al t hough the district court made its ruling after the WIIliansons
moved for partial summary judgnent, St. Paul argues that the

district court’s ruling was based sol ely on the pl eadi ngs and t hat,

therefore, the proper standard of review should be that for a
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notion to dism ss as opposed to a notion for sumary judgnent.® |f
we were to review the appeal under a notion to dism ss standard,
St. Paul particularly believes that it asserted sufficient
allegations of injury caused by the WIIlianmsons’ wuse of
racketeering incone to maintain and operate a RICO enterprise in
viol ation of § 1962(a).

When a party noves for sunmary judgnent, as the WIIiansons
did in this case, “[i]t is not enough for the noving party to
merely make a conclusory statenent that the other party has no
evidence to prove his case.” Ashe v. Corley, 992 F.2d 540, 543
(5th Gr. 1993). “‘[B]lefore the non-noving party is required to
produce evi dence i n opposition to the notion, the noving party nust
first satisfy its obligation of denonstrating that there are no
factual issues warranting trial."” ld. (quoting Russ .
I nternational Paper Co., 943 F.2d 589, 592 (5th Cr. 1991)).
| ndeed, where a notion for summary judgnent is solely based on the
pl eadings or only challenges the sufficiency of the plaintiff’s
pl eadi ngs, then such a notion shoul d be evaluated in nuch the sane

way as a Rule 12(b)(6) notion to dismss. See id. at 544.

%W review both a notion to dismss and a notion for sumnmary

j udgnent under a de novo standard of review. In the fornmer, the
central issue is whether, in the light nost favorable to the
plaintiff, the conplaint states a valid claim for relief. See

Lowey v. Texas A&M Univ. Sys., 117 F.3d 242, 247 (5th GCr. 1997).
In the latter, we go beyond the pleadings to determ ne whether
there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the
movant is entitled to judgnent as a matter of law. See Fed. R
Cv. P. 56(c).
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Contrary to St. Paul’s assertions, the WIlliansons did proffer
evidence in support of their notion for sunmary judgnent. I n
addition to pointing out the | ack of evidence supporting St. Paul’s
RICO clains, they offered affidavits, depositions, and other
rel evant docunentary evi dence suggesting that their prior insurance
clains, which St. Paul alleged were sone of the bases for the
i ncone that supposedly was invested into a RICO enterprise, were
not fraudul ent and could not be predicate acts for the pattern of
racketeering needed for a RI CO violation.

On the other hand, St. Paul contends that the WIIliansons, as
movants, failed to conply with the holding in Ashe because they did
not offer evidence to showthat there was an absence of proof as to
the factual issue of whether there was investnent into a R CO
enterprise. Admttedly, the thrust of the submtted evidence
related to the pattern of racketeering issue, and not the specific
i ssue of investnent in a R CO enterprise.

But the fact that the WIIliansons raised the absence of a
pattern of racketeering issue in the sumary judgnent notion and
provi ded evi dence to corroborate that argunent necessarily supports
the WIIlianmsons’ other argunent that there was no evidence of
investnment in a RICO enterprise. Thus, the WIllianmsons, in their
motion for summary judgnent, did not rest on conclusionary
statenments but denonstrated that no factual issues warranted tri al .

In light of the WIIlianmsons’ satisfaction of their burden to
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denonstrate that no factual issues existed and the district court’s
conscious decision to go beyond the pleadings, we review the
current appeal under the de novo standard accorded to notions for
summary judgnent.

Wth that standard in mnd, we turn to the substance of the
district court’s summary judgnent order and St. Paul’s appeal. O
the three elenents required of any RICO claim the district court
noted that the Wllianmsons in their summary judgnent notion had not
chal | enged whether St. Paul had asserted and/or provided evidence
of a RICO person or a RICO enterprise. A RICO person is the
defendant, while a RICO enterprise can be either a legal entity or
an associ ation-in-fact. See Crowe v. Henry, 43 F. 3d 198, 204 (5th
Cir. 1995). |If the alleged enterprise is an association-in-fact,
the plaintiff nust show evi dence of an ongoi ng organi zati on, fornma
or informal, that functions as a continuing unit over tine through
a hierarchical or consensual decision-making structure. See
Elliott v. Foufas, 867 F.2d 877, 881 (5th Gr. 1989). Here, St.
Paul had identified Robert, Sonya, and Arl one as defendants and had
pl eaded, and apparently established, the R CO enterprise as
Seahorse Farns, and/or an associ ation-in-fact of Robert, Sonya, and
Arl one, and/or an associ ation-in-fact of Robert, Sonya, Arlone, and
Seahor se Far ns.

The W1l ianmsons, however, did circuitously challenge thethird

el emrent of a pattern of racketeering activity, contending that St.
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Paul had failed to show evidence of fraudul ent insurance clains.
A pattern of racketeering activity requires two or nore predicate
acts and a denonstration that the racketeering predicates are
related and amount to or pose a threat of continued crimnal
activity. See Wrd of Faith Wrld Qutreach Cr. Church, Inc. v.
Sawyer, 90 F.3d 118, 122 (5th GCr. 1996). By arguing that there
were no fraudul ent insurance clainms, the WIlliansons essentially
challenged St. Paul’s allegations of mail and wire fraud, the
predi cate acts asserted by St. Paul as the basis for a pattern of
racketeering activity. Anong other things, both RRCOmail and wire
fraud require evidence of intent to defraud, i.e., evidence of a
schene to defraud by false or fraudul ent representations. See
Crowe v. Henry, 115 F. 3d 294, 297 (5th Gr. 1997). After review ng
t he pl eadi ngs and the evidence, the district court determ ned that
there were genuine issues of material fact as to the existence of
a scheme to defraud and, as a result, as to the existence of those
predi cat e of f enses.

Despite finding in favor of St. Paul on the three common
el ements of a RRCOclaim the district court found sumrary judgnent
proper because St. Paul had failed to neet the substantive
requi renents of 8 1962(a), (c), and (d). W review each of those
subsections in turn.

1. Section 1962(a)

To establish a 8§ 1962(a) violation, a plaintiff nust prove 1)
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the existence of an enterprise, 2) the defendant’s derivation of
incone froma pattern of racketeering activity, and 3) the use of
any part of that income in acquiring an interest in or operating
the enterprise. Cf. United States v. Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1331
(5th Cr. 1983) (reciting elenents for a 8§ 1962(a) crimnal
violation). Moreover, there nust be a nexus between the clained
violation and the plaintiff’s injury. See Cowe v. Henry, 43 F. 3d
198, 205 (5th GCir. 1995). 1In other words, for a viable 8§ 1962(a)
claim any injury nust flow from the wuse or investnent of
racketeering i ncone. See Parker & Parsley PetroleumCo. v. Dresser
| ndus., 972 F.2d 580, 584 (5th Gr. 1992).

Here, the district court dism ssed St. Paul’'s claim because
St. Paul failed to show that incone froma pattern of racketeering
activity was invested in or used to operate a RICO enterprise. The
only predicate acts to formthe basis of a pattern of racketeering
activity were several counts of mail and wire fraud, which St. Paul
explicitly stated in its conplaint and Rl CO case statenent.® From

those specific predicate acts, the district court found that the

°St. Paul contends that other predicate acts were stated in
the conplaint and the RICO case statenent and that evidence was
submtted, in the form of adm ssions, which revealed that incone
fromthose acts were received by the WIIliansons or Seahorse Farns.
Al t hough both the conplaint and the RI CO case statenment do refer
generally to sone comments about insurance fraud clains by the
WIlliansons, the conplaint and the RI CO case statenent clearly
state and | ist the predicate acts of mail and wire fraud fromwhich
the RICO clains enanate. All of them concern acts occurring
bet ween March 29, 1989, and COctober 22, 1993.
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only evidence of inconme was several checks from | nsurance Conpany
of North Anmerica (“CIGNA"). The district court ruled that the
evi dence did not establish that any of those checks were invested
inor used to operate a RICOenterprise. It stated that St. Paul’s
unsubstantiated allegation that incone from the predicate acts
mai nt ai ned the WIliansons during the prosecution of the state tort
suit was insufficient to prove investnent into a RICO enterprise.
Al t hough sone evi dence exi sted showi ng i nvestnent into the all eged
RI CO enterprise of Seahorse Farns, that investnent was derived from
incone attributed to acts that were not alleged to have been
predi cate acts formng a pattern of racketeering activity.

On appeal, St. Paul primarily presses the sufficiency of its
8§ 1962(a) allegations, based on the notion to di smss argunent that
we previously noted as unavailing. The initial brief devotes very
little tothe district court’s conclusion that there was no genui ne
i ssue of material fact as to the i nvest nent of racketeering i ncone,
inthe formof the ClGNA checks, into a RRCOenterprise. It nerely
alludes to sone evidence indicating that the WIIliansons' |acked
| egitimate i nconme, and therefore, any i ncone derived froma pattern
of racketeering activity had to have been invested into the
Wl lianmsons’ RICO enterprise, purportedly the association-in-fact
of Sonya, Robert, and Arlone, in the form of support and
mai nt enance so that the enterprise could pursue the state tort suit

against St. Paul. And other than general assertions that the
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conpl ai nt adequately all eges the exi stence of incone froma pattern
of racketeering activity, the initial brief does not present an
argunent that there is evidence substantiating the existence of
i ncome, other than the ClIGNA checks, that was derived from the
predi cate acts specifically listed in the conplaint. Only inits
reply brief does St. Paul directly address the district court’s
conclusion that the evidence only supports the CIGNA checks as
havi ng been generated froma pattern of racketeering activity. 1In
that reply brief, St. Paul notes circunstantial evi dence of several
settlement checks from a disability insurer, Mdtors |nsurance
Corporation (“MC’), which may have been derived fromthe predicate
acts that were alleged in the conplaint and that forned the basis
of a pattern of racketeering activity.

By the tine the ClGNA checks were sent out starting in 1991,
Seahorse Farns had term nated as an entity. The only all eged RI CO
enterprise that the checks could have been invested in was the
associ ation-in-fact of Robert, Sonya, and Arl one. The district
court, however, determned that St. Paul had failed to prove
investment into a R CO enterprise, notwthstanding evidence
suggesting that all three nenbers of the association-in-fact had
received the Cl GNA checks. It was not persuaded by St. Paul’s
unsubstantiated allegation that the use of the CIGNA checks to
mai nt ai n Robert, Sonya, and Arlone during the prosecution of the

state tort suit was investnent into an enterprise. That was error.
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Al t hough we recogni ze and, in a sense, synpathize with the district
court’s apparent belief that St. Paul shoul d have provi ded evi dence
beyond nere allegations that the Cl GNA checks hel ped support the
menbers of an enterprise to denonstrate investnment into a RICO
enterprise for purposes of a 8§ 1962(a) violation, this Crcuit’s
precedent dictates that a plaintiff “need prove only that illegally
derived funds flowed into the enterprise.” Cauble, 706 F.2d at
1342; cf. United States v. Vogt, 910 F.2d 1184, 1199 & n.7 (4th
Cir. 1990) (applying a broad definition of “use” and acknow edgi ng
as sound the governnent’s contention that the depositing of funds
into an enterprise constituted a use to operate in violation of
§ 1962(a)); United States v. MNary, 620 F.2d 621, 628 (7th Cr.
1980) (finding that 8 1962(a) does not require direct or innmediate
use of illicit incone). Assum ng, as we nust, that Robert, Sonya,
and Arlone conprised the enterprise and that they received the
Cl GNA checks, we believe a genuine issue of material fact exists as
to whether racketeering proceeds were invested in or wused to
operate a RICO enterprise.

O course, to state a claimunder 8 1962(a), a plaintiff nust
al so show that its injuries resulted fromthe i nvestnent or use of
racketeering proceeds. See Parker & Parsley Petroleum 972 F. 2d at
584. Al t hough the district court did not specifically consider
that nexus requirenent to rule on the WIIlianmsons’ notion for

summary judgnent, they did raise it in their notion. Because we
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can affirm a sunmmary judgnent on grounds not relied on by the
district court so long as those grounds were proposed or asserted
in that court by the novant, see Johnson v. Sawyer, 120 F.3d 1307,
1316 (5th Cr. 1997), we address that requirenent. In its
conplaint, St. Paul asserted that incone from a pattern of
racketeering activity, arising frommail and wire fraud predicate
acts related to certain insurance clains, was invested in or used
to operate the Wl lianmsons’ RICOenterprise and that the i ncone was
then used to support the enterprise as the enterprise proceeded
wth a |awsuit against St. Paul, thereby resulting in St. Paul’s
injuries. Anong the predicate acts alleged to forma pattern of
racketeering activity were instances of conduct directly connected
tothe filing of the state tort suit, including the filing of that
sui t.

This is troubling, in light of St. Paul’s other clains under
8§ 1962(c) that it was essentially injured by the defendants’
pattern of racketeering activity, i.e., the predicate acts.® 1In
di scussing the investnment injury!! requirenent of 8§ 1962(a), this
Circuit, like virtually all the other circuits who have revi ewed

this issue, has intinmated that such an i njury cannot just flowfrom

st ., Paul also alleged that those predicate acts injured it
by violating state fraud | aw.

YFor sinplicity’s sake, we use the term “investnent injury”

to refer to an injury fromthe use or investnent of racketeering
incone in a RICO enterprise.
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the predicate acts thensel ves. See Parker & Parsley Petrol eum 972
F.2d at 584; see also Vento, Inc. v. Camardella, 23 F.3d 129, 132
(6th Cr. 1994); Nuggest Hydroelec. L.P. v. Pacific Gas & Elec.
Co., 981 F.2d 429, 437-38 (9th Cr. 1992); Daniel sen v. Burnside-
at Aviation Training CGtr., Inc., 941 F. 2d 1220, 1229-30 (D.C. Cr
1991); Quaknine v. McFarl ane, 897 F.2d 75, 82-83 (2d Cr. 1990);
Gider v. Texas Gl & Gas Corp., 868 F.2d 1147, 1150 (10th Cr.
1989). But see Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896 F.2d 833, 836-40
(4th Cr. 1990). That is, injuries due to predicate acts cannot
formthe basis of an investnent injury for purposes of § 1962(a).
We nust ask whether the injuries were a result of the predicate
acts or aresult of the investnent of racketeering proceeds into a
RICO enterprise. Oherwise, “it would be difficult to understand
why Congress enacted 8§ 1962(a).” Danielsen, 941 F.2d at 1230. |If
all egations sufficient to base a § 1962(c) action neet all the
requirenents of a 8 1962(a) allegation, then there is no rea
rati onal e for Congress having passed both. See id. Here, St. Pau
has cone close to inproperly conflating 8 1962(a) and (c), by
asserting that those acts related to the filing and prosecution of
the state tort suit were mail and wre fraud predicates and that
they caused it injuries.

In its response to the WIlIlianmsons’ notion for sumary
judgnent and in its initial brief, however, St. Paul argues in a

roundabout way that the investnment injury it suffered was not from
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the predicate acts related to the filing of the state tort suit,
but rather fromthe predi cate acts associated with the Wl liansons’
clains with other insurance conpanies.'? |t maintains that its
injuries are cognizable because they were the result of the
WIlianmsons’ investnent of racketeering incone froma prior pattern
of racketeering activity. See Newnreyer v. Philatelic Leasing,
Ltd., 888 F.2d 385, 396 (6th Gr. 1989).

In Newneyer, the plaintiffs had placed sonme noney into an
i nvestnment plan dealing with stanps, which the defendants had
marketed. See id. at 386-91. The plaintiffs’ conplaints alleged
that the defendants had been acting in concert over a period of
five years, defraudi ng hundreds of individuals, many of themprior
tothe plaintiffs’ own deception. See id. at 396. |In furtherance
of their schene, the defendants allegedly commtted nail and wire
fraud, which constituted a pattern of racketeering activity. See
id. Based on those allegations, the Sixth Crcuit found that the
plaintiffs had made out a 8§ 1962(a) claim See id. It observed
that if the allegations were true and if the defendants had used
the incone derived fromearlier racketeering activity agai nst ot her
victinse to establish and operate the alleged scaminto which the

plaintiffs placed their own noney, then it was not inpossible for

2\W6 find this argunent odd because, as previously noted, the
district court did not discuss or base its summary judgnent order
on the investnent injury requirenent.
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the plaintiffs to denonstrate a 8§ 1962(a) injury. See id.

The present situation closely parallels the Newreyer case
except that we encounter uncertainty as to whether St. Paul has
all eged and established nore than one pattern of racketeering
activity. St. Paul’s conplaint grouped all the predicate acts
toget her, inplying that they conposed one pattern of racketeering.
In addition, of the predicate acts specifically listed in the
conplaint, alnost all of themrelated to the WIIliansons’ actions
to obtain nonetary conpensation frominsurance clainms arising out
of Sonya’'s July 1989 el ectrocution. Indeed, the Cl GNA checks that
purportedly constitute the investnent intothe RICOenterprise were
received as a result of Sonya’s el ectrocution, the event that al so
spurred the WIlliansons’ predicate acts associated with the filing
of the state court suit. The commonality in the source of those
predi cate acts suggests that the predicate acts that led to the
Cl GNA checks and the predicate acts connected to the filing of the
lawsuit were related and forned one pattern of racketeering

activity. |If we were to discern only one pattern of racketeering
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activity, then this case would not fit easily within the Newreyer
hol di ng. 13

Despite the problens, we believe that St. Paul has
sufficiently distinguished and established a genuine issue of
material fact as to the existence of a prior pattern of
racketeering activity, which may have produced incone that was
invested into a RICO enterprise, causing injuries to St. Paul in
the formof |egal costs. Although St. Paul nmay have confusingly
i ncluded those predicate acts that forned the prior pattern of
racketeering activity with those predicate acts that injured St.
Paul pursuant to 8§ 1962(c), it is apparent fromthe conplaint and
ot her docunents that St. Paul was asserting that it was injured by
the i nvest ment of prior racketeering proceeds intothe WIIliansons’
RICO enterprise. And while the Cl GNA checks and the predicate acts
related to the filing of the lawsuit all arose from Sonya’s
el ectrocution, that comonality does not nean that no 8§ 1962(a)
claimcan be asserted. The Cl GNA checks were procured as a result
of Sonya’s el ectrocution, but they dealt with racketeering activity
connected to the WIIlianmsons’ actions wth other insurance

conpanies. The predicate acts associated wth the filing of the

Bpart of the problem also rests with St. Paul’s failure to
all ege properly as predicate acts a host of allegations about the
Wl lianmsons’s insurance clains fromthe early 1980s to 1989, which
were purportedly a part of a prior pattern of racketeering
activity. See supra note 9. If St. Paul had established those
predi cate acts, then the prior pattern of racketeering activity
woul d have been nuch nore evident.
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| awsuit, which formed the basis of the pattern of racketeering
activity under § 1962(c), concerned racketeering activity primrily
related to the WIlianmsons’ dealings with St. Paul. Thus, while
the predicate acts connected to the Cl GNA checks and to the filing
of the lawsuit all sprang fromthe sane root, those predicate acts
were the bases of different patterns of racketeering activity.
Hence, we find that St. Paul has asserted and created a genuine
i ssue of material fact as to the exi stence of an i nvestnent injury.
Accordingly, we vacate the district court’s sunmary judgnment in
favor of the WIlliansons’ as to the 8§ 1962(a) claimw th respect to
t he Cl GNA checks.

As for the incone fromthe MC settl enent checks, which were
received by the WIlliansons and which St. Paul raises inits reply
brief as evidence of other racketeering incone having been i nvested
into a RRCO enterprise, we affirmthe district court. Generally,
we deem abandoned those issues not presented and argued in an
appellant’s initial brief, nor do we consider natters not presented
tothe trial court. See Wbb v. Investacorp Inc., 89 F. 3d 252, 257
n.2 (5th Gr. 1996). Inits initial brief, St. Paul tangentially
referred to the WIIliansons’ receipt of disability checks in
general, but any reference to those checks were in the context of
its general allegations concerning the WIliansons’ fraudul ent Rl CO
schene. St. Paul did not challenge the district court’s ruling

that there was no genuine i ssue of material fact as to the | ack of
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racketeering incone other than the Cl GNA checks. Li kewi se, St.
Paul s response to the WIliansons’ sunmary judgnent notion was
deficient with respect to any argunent that there was evidence
supporting the recei pt of incone, inthe formof the MC settl enent
checks, froma pattern of racketeering activity.* Accordingly, we
believe that St. Paul has abandoned any argunent regarding the
exi stence of evidence pertaining to incone derived froma pattern
of racketeering activity.

2. Section 1962(c)

As previously noted, 8 1962(c) prohibits “any person enpl oyed
by or associated with any enterprise” from participating in or
conducting the affairs of that enterprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity. See 18 U. S.C 8§ 1962(c). Li ke the
overwhel mng majority of our sister circuits, we have held that
subsection (c) requires that the R CO person be distinct fromthe
RICO enterprise. See Bishopv. Corbitt Marine Ways, Inc., 802 F. 2d
122, 122-23 (5th G r. 1986) (collecting cases); see also Crowe, 43
F.3d at 206 (“[A] RICO person cannot enploy or associate wth
hinsel f under [8 1962(c)]”.); In re Burzynski, 989 F.2d at 743
(citing Bishop). Here, St. Paul identified Robert, Sonya, and

Arlone as defendants, and thus as RI CO persons. Mor eover, it

14st. Paul submtted evidence of those checks, but it did not
connect that evidence to any argunent regarding the existence of
incone, in the form of those checks, derived from a pattern of
racketeering activity.
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all eged that the enterprise was essentially the associ ation-in-fact
of Robert, Sonya, and Arl one.

The district court viewed those allegations as failing to
establish any distinction between the RI CO def endants and the RI CO
enterprise, and it dismssed St. Paul’s 8 1962(c) claim The two
primary bases for the district court’s determnation were the
Bur zynski and Crowe decisions fromthis Grcuit. |In Burzynski, the
plaintiff, a doctor who operated a research institute, sued Aetna
Li fe I nsurance Conpany (“Aetna”), alitigation consultant hired by
Aetna, the conpany started by that Ilitigation consultant, and
Aetna’s outside law firm for violating, anong other things,
8§ 1962(c). See In re Burzynski, 989 F.2d at 742. The plaintiff
charged that the enterprise was an associ ation-in-fact conprised of
the defendants. See id. at 743. The Burzynski panel found that
this contravened the person/enterprise distinction as required by
8§ 1962(c) and by Bishop. See id. In Crowe, the plaintiff, Larry
Crowe, sued his lawer, Sam Henry, under the RICO statutes,
including 8§ 1962(c). See Crowe, 43 F.3d at 201. The RICO
enterprise was al l egedly an associ ation-in-fact of Crowe and Henry.
See id. at 206. Citing Burzynski, a different panel of this Court
concluded that Crowe’s claim failed to denonstrate a sufficient

di stinction between the person and the enterprise. See id.
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St. Paul does not dispute the district court’s readi ng of the
Bur zynski and Crowe hol di ngs. It concedes that those decisions
seem to hold that nenbers of an association-in-fact enterprise
cannot al so be RI CO persons for purposes of a § 1962(c) claim But
St. Paul responds that recent case | aw casts doubt on the validity
of Burzynski’ s and Crowe’s interpretation of the person/enterprise
distinction and that those two cases actually conflict wwth earlier
Fifth CGrcuit case law. Referring to Khurana v. |Innovative Health
Care Sys., Inc., 130 F. 3d 143 (5th CGr. 1997), St. Paul argues that
there is a difference between the namng of a corporation as an
al | eged nenber of an association-in-fact enterprise and the nam ng
of individuals as alleged nenbers of an association-in-fact
enterprise when determ ning the person/enterprise distinction. 1In
addition, St. Paul asserts that Khurana conports with even earlier
circuit precedent, United States v. Elliott, 571 F.2d 880 (5th Cr
1978), which perceived the person/enterprise distinction
differently than Burzynski and Crowe.

First off, we note that the Suprene Court vacated t he judgnent
in Khurana. See Teel v. Khurana, 119 S. . 442 (1998). Second,
even if Khurana altered the |andscape of the person/enterprise
distinction in our circuit, we are bound to the holdings in
Burzynski and Crowe, assumng that those are our earliest
pronouncenents on this issue. See United States v. Texas Tech

Univ., 171 F. 3d 279, 285 n.9 (5th Gr. 1999), cert. denied, 120 S
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Ct. 2194 (2000) (observing that when two prior panel decisions
conflict, the first decision controls); see also Luna v. United
States Dep’'t of Health & Human Servs., 948 F.2d 169, 172 (5th Cr.
1991).

Nonet hel ess, reviewing Elliott and sone of the ot her deci sions
that led to the Burzynski and Crowe deci sions, we believe that St.
Paul makes a neritorious argunent. In Elliott, the governnent
prosecuted six individuals for RICOviolations.® See Elliott, 571
F.2d at 895. Those six individuals conprised the association-in-
fact enterprise. See id. at 898 n.18. O the six, tw were
charged as defendants for violating 8§ 1962(c). See id. at 896.
Notw thstanding the fact that both individuals charged wth
violating 8 1962(c) were naned as RI CO persons and as nenbers of
the association-in-fact, the Elliott panel affirmed their
convictions. See id. at 900.

Thus, when Bi shop, the decision to which the Burzynski court

cited for support, held that to state a § 1962(c) claim a

plaintiff had to distinguish between the Rl CO person and the RI CO

5Al t hough Elliott involved a crimnal prosecution as opposed
toacivil suit, the substantive requirenments of 8§ 1962(c) are the
sane. Cf. Alcorn County v. US. Interstate Supplies, Inc., 731
F.2d 1160, 1170-71 (5th Cr. 1984), abrogated on other grounds,
United States v. Cooper, 135 F.3d 960 (5th Gr. 1998) (construing
crimnal RICOcases as rel evant for purposes of determ ni ng whet her
a violation occurred); see also United States v. Shifrman, 124 F. 3d
31, 35 n.1 (1st Cr. 1997) (“[I]t is appropriate to rely on civil
Rl CO precedent when analyzing crimnal RICOliability.”).
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enterprise, it was not nmaki ng the sweepi ng generalization that any
congruence between a Rl CO person and a nenber of an associ ation-in-
fact, which constituted a R CO enterprise, violated the
person/enterprise distinction. | nstead, Bishop nerely concurred
with the vast majority of the circuits that held that a § 1962(c)
claimrequires a distinction between the RI CO person and the RI CO
enterprise. Those circuits were discussing the person/enterprise
distinction where the plaintiffs were alleging a corporate entity
as both a RICO defendant and a RICO enterprise. Bi shop itself
invol ved a plaintiff who sought a § 1962(c) cl ai magai nst a single
corporate defendant, which was al so naned as the RI CO enterprise.
See Bishop, 802 F.2d at 122.

The reason for differentiating in the 8 1962(c) context
between cases where a corporation is identified as both the
enterprise and the defendant and cases where it is not was aptly

noted in the Harocco decision, to which Bishop heavily deferred.
See Harocco, Inc. v. Anerican Nat’'| Bank & Trust Co., 747 F.2d 384,
399 (7th Gr. 1984). The RICO statute distinguishes between a
corporation and an associ ation-in-fact with respect to the “person”
elenment. See id. According to the Haroco court:
Where persons associate “in fact” for crimnal
purposes, . . . each person may be held liable
under RICO for his, her or its participation in
conducting the affairs of the association in fact
through a pattern of racketeering activity. But

t he nebul ous association in fact does not itself
fall wthin the RICO definition of “person[]”
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In the association in fact situation, each
participant in the enterprise my be a “person”
liable under RICO but the association itself
cannot be. By contrast, a corporation obviously
qualifies as a “person” under RICO and may be
subject to RICO liability.

ld. at 401. Thus, courts have routinely required a distinction
when a corporation has been all eged as both a Rl CO def endant and a
RICO enterprise, but a simlar requirenent has not been nandated
when i ndi vi dual s have been nanmed as def endants and as nenbers of an
associ ation-in-fact RICO enterprise. 15

I ndeed, “‘[a] collective entity is sonething nore than the
menbers of which it is conprised.’”” United States v. Fairchild,
189 F. 3d 769, 777 (8th G r. 1999) (quoting Atlas Pile Driving Co.
v. DiCon Fin. Co., 886 F.2d 986, 995 (8th G r. 1989)). “Although

a def endant may not be both a person and an enterprise, a defendant

may be both a person and a part of an enterprise. |In such a case,

1To get around having a corporation naned as both a RICO
def endant and a RICO enterprise, many plaintiffs have charged the
corporation as being part of an association-in-fact enterprise and
also as a RICO defendant. Courts have roundly criticized this
formulation. See, e.g., Brittinghamv. Mbil Corp., 943 F. 2d 297,
300-302 (3d Gr. 1991). 1In sone ways, that fornulation parallels
the situation where individuals are naned as defendants and as
being part of an association-in-fact, and accordingly, the
criticismhas fed the notion that no def endant can be a part of the
associ ation-in-fact enterprise or it would violate the
person/enterprise distinction. But the criticism pertaining to
havi ng corporations listed as being a part of the association-in-
fact is due to the fact that a “8 1962(c) enterprise nust be nore
than an association of individuals or entities conducting the

normal affairs of a defendant corporation.” 1d.; see also dd Tine
Enters. v. International Coffee Corp., 862 F.2d 1213, 1215 (5th
Cr. 1989). The criticism is generally unwarranted where

corporations are not invol ved.
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the individual defendant is distinct from the organizational
entity.” | d. O herwi se, an individual nenber of a collective
enterprise, such as an associ ation-in-fact, could not be prosecuted
for violating 8 1962(c) because he or she would not be consi dered
distinct fromthe enterprise. See id. Accordingly, we vacate the
district court’s award of summary judgnent in favor of the
WIllianmsons’ on St. Paul’s 8 1962(c) claim

3. Section 1962(d)

Under 8 1962(d), a person cannot <conspire to violate
subsections (a) or (c). See 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). Wth respect to
a conspiracy to viol ate subsection (c), this Crcuit has previously
stated that just as a RICO person cannot enploy or associate with
itself, it cannot conspire to enploy or associate wwth itself. See
Ashe, 992 F.2d at 544. As a result, the district court dism ssed
the § 1962(d) cl ai mbased on an agreenent to viol ate subsection (c)
because it concluded that St. Paul had failed to distinguish the
Rl CO persons fromthe RICO enterprise. But in light of our hol ding
that St. Paul has established a distinction between the R CO
persons and the RICO enterprise, we vacate the district court’s
ruling with respect to St. Paul’s 8§ 1962(d) claim charging a
conspiracy to viol ate subsection (c). Moreover, we remand t he case
back to the district court so that it nay address St. Paul’s §

1962(d) claim based on an agreenent to violate subsection (a),



which the district court failed to do in its order.?

C. Appeal No. 98-31243

In the third and final consolidated appeal, we nust determ ne
whet her the district court erred in enjoining Sonya, Robert, their
children, and their agents from pursuing the state court
nullification suit. Under the Anti-Injunction Act, a federal court
may not grant an injunction to stay proceedings in a state court
“except as expressly authorized by an Act of Congress, or where
necessary in aid of its jurisdiction, or to protect or effectuate
its judgnments.” Next Level Communi cations LP v. DSC Comruni cati ons
Corp., 179 F.3d 244, 249 (5th Cr. 1999). These exceptions are
narrowy construed. See id. The district court granted the
i njunction based on the exception to protect or effectuate its
judgnent, otherwise known as the relitigation exception. That

“w

exception “ was designed to permt a federal court to prevent state
litigation of an i ssue that previously was presented to and deci ded

by the federal court.’” ld. (quoting Chick Kam Choo v. Exxon
Corp., 108 S. Ct. 1684 (1988)). Although generally the grant of a
prelimnary injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion, we
review the district court’s application of the relitigation
exception de novo. See Next Level, 179 F.3d at 249.

To apply the exception, the parties to the original action

"As we previously noted, St. Paul has established a genuine
i ssue of material fact with respect to the 8 1962(a) claim
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must have actually disputed the issue and the trier of fact nust
have actually resolved it. See Santopadre v. Pelican Honestead &
Sav. Ass’'n, 937 F.2d 268, 273 (5th Gr. 1991). I n determ ning
whi ch issues have been actually litigated, the federal court is
free to go beyond the judgnent and nay exam ne the pleadings and
the evidence in the prior action. See id. |If a question of fact
is put inissue by the pleadings, is submtted to the jury or other
trier of facts for its determnation, and is determ ned, then that
question of fact has been actually litigated. See id.

The state court nullification petition alleges that several
acts commtted by the insurance parties during the course of the
state court negligence trial constituted ill practices within the
meani ng of article 2004. Anong the acts were the nondi scl osure of:
(1) the identity of CGeorge Casellas, the insurance parties’ non-
testifying expert; (2) Casellas’ photograph of the wall switch; (3)
evidence indicating water mgration fromthe second floor to Room
170; and (4) the replacenent of the wall switch and lanp fixture in
Room 170. Simlar allegations were included as part of the
Wl lianmsons’ RICO counterclains in the federal suit. | ndeed,
attorney Smth conceded that the facts pertaining to the
nullification suit were essentially the sanme as those involved in
the RICO counterclains. In the federal suit, the district court
granted summary judgnent dismssing the RICO counterclains,

finding: (1) that there was a | ack of evidence show ng an all eged
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schene by the insurance parties to present a fraudul ent defense in
the state negligence suit; (2) that the existence of certain
phot ogr aphs not revealing a cenent slab between Roons 170 and 270
did not confirm a schenme to defraud; (3) that any alleged
alterations of the wall switch or the hanging |anp were not
i ndicative of a schene to defraud; (4) that the possible creation
of a drain hole above Room 170 after Sonya’'s el ectrocution did not
confirm a schene to defraud; (5) that none of the evidence
submtted by the WIlliansons indicated that Sonya’'s el ectrocution
coul d not have been staged or fraudul ent; and (6) that an abundance
of evidence pointed to the possibility of fraud by the WIIliansons.

Article 2004 provides for the annul nent of a final judgnent
obtained by fraud or ill practices. There are two criteria to
determ ne that a judgnent has been obtai ned by actionable fraud or
i1l practices: (1) the circunstances under which the judgnent was
rendered show the deprivation of Iegal rights of the litigant who
seeks relief, and (2) the enforcenent of the judgnent would be
unconsci onabl e and i nequi table. See KemSearch, Inc. v. Sheffield,
434 So. 2d 1067, 1070 (La. 1983). In addition, article 2004 is
“not limted to cases of actual fraud or intentional w ongdoing,
but is sufficiently broad to enconpass all situations wherein a
judgnent is rendered through sone inproper practice or procedure
whi ch operates, even innocently, to deprive the party cast in

judgnent of sone legal right, and where the enforcenent of the
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j udgnent woul d be unconscionabl e and inequitable.” Id.

The district court’s findings clearly denonstrate that the
court considered and adjudged the issue of fraud. But the
anor phous and broad definition of ill practices suggests that the
district court did not actually litigate an ultimte issue of fact
that precludes the possibility of litigating the issue of ill
practices and the corresponding nullification claim |ndeed, none
of the findings say directly that the insurance parties’ actions
were not ill practices. Accordingly, those findings do not prevent
the litigation of whether sone of the alleged acts commtted by the
i nsurance parties were inproper practices that operated, even
i nnocently, to deprive the WIIliansons sone |egal right.

The grant of sunmary judgnent in favor of St. Paul on the
counterclains asserted by the WIllianmsons in the federal court
proceeding for acts of RICO and fraud that allegedly occurred
during the state court trial is sufficient to support an injunction
by the federal court to prevent relitigation in the state court of
"fraud" as a grounds for nullification of the original state court
deci si on. But that summary judgnent is insufficient to prevent
relitigation of "ill practices" wunder the Louisiana statute.
Consequent |y, we vacate the injunction issued by the district court
and remand that injunctive relief to the district court for
rei ssuance by the district court so as to be expressly limted to

the fraud i ssue.
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CONCLUSI ON

Besi des the procedural irregularity associated with the sua
sponte grant of summary judgnent, the jury finding that Sonya’s
injuries were the "result of a staged accident or fraud" does not,
as a matter of law, satisfy all of the elenents of a nmalicious
prosecution claim Therefore, the district court erred in applying
Louisiana res judicata law to hold that Sonya was |iable on the
mal i ci ous prosecution theory. Accordingly, we vacate the judgnment
agai nst Sonya and remand the nmalicious prosecution claim of St.
Paul to the district court for trial on the nerits. |In addition,
we affirmthe district court’s evidentiary rulings and the summary
j udgnent dism ssing the WIIliansons’ counterclains.

As for St. Paul’s RICO clains, we vacate and remand the
followng for proceedings consistent with this opinion: 1) the
judgnment in favor of the WIlliansons with respect to St. Paul’s §
1962(a) claim insofar as it pertains to the Cl GNA checks; 2) the
judgnent in favor of the WIIlianmsons concerning the 8 1962(c)
claim and 3) the judgnment in favor of the WIliansons with respect
to the 8§ 1962(d) claim for conspiracy to violate § 1962(c).
Furthernore, we remand to the district court for consideration St.
Paul 's 8§ 1962(d) claimfor conspiracy to violate § 1962(a).

Finally, we vacate the injunction issued by the district court
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and remand that injunctive relief to the district court for
rei ssuance by the district court so as to be expressly limted to
the fraud issue.

Al l outstanding notions are deni ed.
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EDI TH H JONES, dissenting:

| respectfully dissent. Despite the majority’s exacting
di scussion of the issues that allegedly preclude affirmng the
trial court’s judgnent, | am unpersuaded on two conclusions in
particular: that the jury finding of a staged or fraudul ent action
does not subsune the elenents of malicious prosecution!; and that
the injunction against |litigation of the WIIliansons “ill
practices” claim nust be overturned.? The result of these twn
rulings is to nullify the original verdict -- extraordinary as it
is -- that Sonya’s el ectrocution claimwas staged or fraudul ent.

Far worse, though, is the parties’ abuse of the courts
over the |l ast decade. To stage an accident for insurance tribute
i's reprehensi bl e. But it's also hard to see what good, or what
col |l ectabl e noney judgnent, nmay cone of a RI CO suit against these
pathetic perpetrators. This litigation, like this dissent, should

end!

Howis it possible tojustify the majority’s concl usion that,
even though the electrocution accident was staged or fraudul ent,
there m ght have been probable cause to file Sonya’s suit?

2The majority strains conmon sense, it seens to nme, in holding
that even though the insurers commtted no fraud in defending
Sonya’s electrocution lawsuit -- which was started by a staged or
fraudul ent action of plaintiffs -- the insurers may have engaged in
“Il1l practices” of litigation.
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